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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
PETER SADLER, individually and on behalf 
of all others similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
KBR, INC. f/k/a KELLOGG BROWN & 
ROOT (HOUSTON), INC. and HOMESAFE 
ALLIANCE LLC,  
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No.: 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
 
DEMAND FOR A JURY TRIAL 
 
 
 

 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 
Plaintiff Peter Sadler (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated 

former employees of Defendants KBR, Inc. f/k/a Kellogg Brown & Root (Houston), Inc. (“KRB”) 

and HomeSafe Alliance, LLC, (“HomeSafe”) (collectively, “Defendants”) (hereinafter, the 

“Class”), through his undersigned counsel, brings this Class Action Complaint against Defendants 

seeking all available relief under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 29 

U.S.C. § 2101, et seq. (“WARN Act”), and Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure. The following allegations are based on personal knowledge as to Plaintiff’s own 

conduct and are made on information and belief as to the acts of others. 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. Plaintiff and the Class were, until recently, employees of Defendants, who were 

terminated by Defendants without cause through its abrupt plant closure on June 27, 2025. In 

conducting the plant closure, Defendants failed to give Plaintiff and Class Members at least 60 

days prior notice of termination of their employment violating the WARN Act. Accordingly, 

Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to recover from Defendants their wages and other employee 
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benefits for sixty (60) working days following the termination of their employment, for which 

wages and benefits have not been paid. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 29 

U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5). 

3. Venue in this Court is proper pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5). Defendants reside 

in and/or conduct business in this Judicial District, and a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred within this Judicial District. 

PARTIES 
 

4. Plaintiff is an adult citizen and resident of Villa Rica, Georgia. Plaintiff was 

employed by Defendants from on or about March 2025 until his termination on June 27, 2025. He 

was a full-time employee. During his tenure, Plaintiff worked as a Customer Experience Manager 

and was paid an annual salary of $90,000. Plaintiff worked from home and was based out of 

Defendants’ Houston, Texas office.  

5. Defendant KBR is a publicly traded Delaware corporation (NYSE: KBR), and 

maintains its principal offices at 601 Jefferson Street, Houston, Texas 77002. 

6. Defendant HomeSafe is organized under the laws of Delaware and maintains its 

principal offices at 601 Jefferson Street, Houston, Texas 77002. 

7. Defendants and/or Defendants’ officers, directors, agents, employees, or 

representatives committed the unlawful acts alleged in this Complaint while actively engaged in 

the management of Defendants’ businesses or affairs and with the authorization of Defendants.  

8. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Plaintiff and similarly situated workers were 

“employees” of Defendants and covered by the WARN Act. 29 U.S. Code § 2101(a)(5); 20 C.F.R. 
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§ 639.3(e).   

9. At all times relevant, Defendants were “employers” covered by the WARN Act. 29 

U.S. Code § 2101(a)(1); 20 C.F.R. § 639.3(a). 

CLASS DEFINITION 
 

10. Plaintiff brings this lawsuit individually and as a class action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 

§ 2104(a)(5) and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 on behalf of: 

All former employees of Defendants who performed work in the United States and 
who were terminated through Defendants’ plant closing on or about June 27, 2025 
(the “Class” or “Class Members”). 
 
11. Plaintiff reserves the right to redefine the Class prior to certification, and thereafter, 

as may be warranted or necessary. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 
 

12. KBR is a global company with over 29,000 employees that provides science, 

technology, and engineering solutions to governments and private companies around the world.  

13. HomeSafe Alliance LLC, is a joint venture led by KBR, that is “dedicated to 

providing fast, easy, efficient relocation” services to members of the United States Armed Forces, 

Department of Defense civilians and their families (“Service Members”).1  

14. KBR has a 72% ownership interest in HomeSafe.  

15. KBR exercises control over HomeSafe’s operations, sets policies governing Class 

Members’ employment, and provides and manages Class Members’ employment benefits and 

retirement plans. KBR provides resources and support to HomeSafe and its employees including 

 
1 HomeSafe Alliance, a KBR led Joint Venture, Secures $20B Contract to Transform U.S. Military 
Moving Industry with Digital Solutions, KBR.com (Nov. 5, 2021), https://investors.kbr.com/news-
and-events/news/news-details/2021/HomeSafe-Alliance-a-KBR-led-Joint-Venture-Secures-20B-
Contract-to-Transform-U.S.-Military-Moving-Industry-with-Digital-Solutions/default.aspx (last 
visited June 28, 2025). 
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equipment, employee computers, and managed the IT network and client management system 

HomeSafe employees used in their day-to-day work. 

16. HomeSafe and KBR shared common employees. Some KBR employees were 

assigned to work exclusively on HomeSafe projects and reported to HomeSafe’s supervisors and 

leadership. 

17. In November 2021, the U.S. Transportation Command (“TRANSCOM”) awarded 

HomeSafe with the Global Household Goods Contract (“GHC”) to be the exclusive household 

goods move management service provider for Service Members valued at approximately twenty 

billion dollars ($20B) over a potential nine (9) year term.  

18. HomeSafe employed hundreds of Class Members, including Plaintiff, to perform 

services under its government contract including in customer service, claims, and operations roles.  

19. HomeSafe employed at least 320 employees as of June 2025.  

20. HomeSafe employed 100 or more full-time employees and/or 100 or more 

employees, including part-time employees, who in the aggregate work at least 4,000 hours per 

week, exclusive of hours of overtime. See 20 C.F.R. § 639.3(a).  

21. Class Members, including Plaintiff, are primarily “outstationed” employees of 

Defendants, within the meaning of 20 C.F.R. § 639.3(i)(6) of the WARN Act, who reported to, 

received assignments from, or were assigned to a single site of employment at Defendants’ 

Houston, Texas office.  

Defendants Failed to Provide Required WARN Notice  

22. On June 27, 2025, Defendants conducted a plant closing and laid off hundreds of 

employees without giving the required sixty (60) days WARN Act notice following the 

cancellation of HomeSafe’s contract with the Department of Defense.  
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23. Defendants failed to provide employees required WARN notices even though such 

layoffs, and the loss of HomeSafe’s contract, were reasonably foreseeable following HomeSafe’s 

persistent and well-documented inability to satisfactorily perform its obligations under the GHC.  

24. Defendants’ June 27, 2025, layoff is not excused from WARN Act as it does not 

fall under one of the Act’s exceptions: unforeseeable business circumstances, faltering companies, 

and natural disasters. 

25. Furthermore, Defendants did not issue Plaintiff or the Class Members any WARN 

Act notice indicating that Defendants were claiming one of the Act’s three exceptions as a reason 

for the failure to provide the required sixty (60) day notice of the layoffs.  

26. HomeSafe officially began performing limited domestic test moves under the GHC 

in April 2024, with operations expected to ramp up to HomeSafe conducting 20% of all domestic 

moves for Service Members by December 2024 and international moves to begin in 2025.2 

27. As HomeSafe’s operations began to ramp up in December 2024, numerous 

problems began to arise with HomeSafe’s performance under the GHC and its ability to handle a 

higher volume of moves. In January 2025, Federal News Network reported that “TRANSCOM 

officials said they currently estimate 1,000 families have been affected by missed pickups, late 

deliveries, or communication problems.”3  

28. Federal News Network further reported that the problems HomeSafe experienced 

in executing Service Members’ moves under the GHC prompted TRANSCOM to issue a show-

 
2 Amanda Miller, Privatizing PCS Moves: What You Need to Know As HomeSafe Alliance Takes 
Over, Military.com (April 16, 2024) https://www.military.com/pcs/privatizing-pcs-moves-what-
you-need-know-homesafe-alliance-takes-over.html . 
3 Jared Serbu, DoD Raises Formal Performance Concerns On Multibillion Dollar Moving 
Contract, Federal News Network (Jan. 30, 2025) https://federalnewsnetwork.com/defense-
news/2025/01/dod-raises-formal-performance-concerns-on-multibillion-dollar-moving-
contract/?readmore=1.  
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cause notice requiring HomeSafe to “explain hundreds of instances over the past month in which 

movers have failed to begin military families’ moves on the agreed-upon dates, delivered their 

belongings late, or both.”4 

29. On February 26, 2025, United States Senator Mark Warner of Virginia sent a letter 

to TRANSCOM outlining his concerns with HomeSafe’s performance under the GHC and 

requesting additional briefing as to how TRANSCOM “will ensure HomeSafe Alliance improves 

contract performance.” See Ex. A. 

30. In his letter, Senator Warner sought clarity on numerous issues including: 

 How many household goods (HHG) pickups and drop offs have been missed since the 
new Global Household Goods contract was phased in? What percentage of these 
missed pick up and drop offs are because of contractors failing to show up, or other 
capacity issues? 

 What recourse is available to servicemembers and their families when their HHG 
pickup or drop off is delayed? 

 Why was a show-cause letter issued to HomeSafe Alliance, and what was HomeSafe 
Alliance's response to the letter? 

 What assurances has HomeSafe Alliance provided in terms of their ability to build 
mover capacity? 

 What changes have you implemented to reduce the number of missed pickups and drop 
offs since April 2024? What are you doing to ensure HomeSafe Alliance is prepared 
for peak PCS season?  

Ex. A. 

31. According to Federal News Network, “[i]n an April 1 memo, the [Army] service 

told all of its base-level shipping offices to stop booking new moves under the contract ‘until 

further notice,’ and to be prepared to process turn-backs of planned GHC moves.”5  

32. In April 2025, Plaintiff learned that Defendants sent back to TRANSCOM 

 
4 Id. 
5 Jared Serbu, DoD Orders ‘Immediate’ Changes to Troubled PCS Moving Program, Replaces 
Senior Official, Federal News Network (May 21, 2025) https://federalnewsnetwork.com/defense-
news/2025/05/dod-orders-immediate-changes-to-troubled-pcs-moving-program-replaces-senior-
official/ 
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thousands of moves that had been assigned to HomeSafe. Around that same time, Plaintiff also 

learned that HomeSafe cancelled two hiring classes of about sixty (60) new employees that were 

scheduled to be onboarded in April 2025. 

33. In early May, HomeSafe laid off at least nine (9) employees from the customer 

service department.  

34. On May 9, 2025, HomeSafe CEO Robert Nicholson held a virtual companywide 

all hands meeting from Defendants’ Houston office where he informed employees that HomeSafe 

was struggling to meet the government’s performance standards under the GHC and that the 

layoffs were necessary to create “breathing room.” Nicholson also told employees that the 

company did not anticipate further layoffs at that time.    

35. On May 20, 2025, “Defense Secretary Pete Hegseth ordered more than a half dozen 

actions he said were meant to address ‘deficiencies’ in the department’s transition to the $17.9 

billion Global Household Goods contract (GHC), managed by HomeSafe Alliance.”6  

36. The first action Secretary Hegseth ordered was to “[h]old the GHC . . . programs 

accountable for meeting their key performance indicators and provide weekly updates” to 

Department of Defense offices. See Ex. B.  

37. On June 18, 2025, the Department of Defense announced that it had “terminated 

HomeSafe Alliance LLC (HSA) . . . for cause due to HSA's demonstrated inability to fulfill their 

obligations and deliver high quality moves to Service members.”7  

38. On June 19, 2025, HomeSafe published a press release on its website stating that it 

 
6 Id.  
7 See Press Release, Statement by Chief Pentagon Spokesman Sean Parnell on Implementation 
Memorandum for Permanent Change of Station Joint Task Force, U.S. Department of Defense 
(June 18, 2025) https://www.defense.gov/News/Releases/Release/Article/4221479/statement-by-
chief-pentagon-spokesman-sean-parnell-on-implementation-memorandum/. 

Case 1:25-cv-00802-UNA     Document 1     Filed 06/30/25     Page 7 of 16 PageID #: 7



Page 8

 

8 

learned of the contract termination and that it would be ceasing operations.  

39. On June 20, 2025, HomeSafe CEO Robert Nicholson held a second virtual 

companywide all hands meeting from Defendants’ Houston office and informed Plaintiff and Class 

Members that its contract with the Department of Defense had been cancelled and that they would 

no longer be receiving work from the contract.  

40. On June 23, 2025, Defendants informed Plaintiff and Class Members, via meetings 

with Defendants’ HR personnel, that HomeSafe was ceasing operations and that all employees 

would be terminated. Defendants’ HR personnel told Plaintiff and Class Members that they would 

be terminated as of Friday, June 27, 2025. 

41. On June 27, 2025, Defendants laid off more than two hundred (200) workers and 

over 70% of its workforce who reported to, received assignments from, or were assigned to 

Defendants’ Houston, Texas office.  

42. Defendants have retained a small number of employees to assist with closing out 

moves that were pending as of June 27, 2025, but have informed those few employees that they 

will also be terminated within the coming weeks.  

43. There were sufficient warning signs for the termination of the contract that the 

layoff was not unforeseeable and were not outside of Defendants’ control. Defendants knew or 

should have known at least 60 days prior to the plant closing on June 27, 2025, that it was likely 

that Defendants would be required to have such a plant closing because Defendants knew they 

were not meeting performance standards required under the GHC, as discussed above, and had 

already been issued a show cause order to address performance concerns in February 2025.   

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 
 

44. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 on behalf 
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of himself and the Class defined above. 

45. The members of the Class are so numerous and that joinder of all members would 

be impracticable. As alleged above, there are hundreds of Class members, all of whom are well-

known and identifiable to Defendants. 

46. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the Class 

because there is no conflict between Plaintiff’s claims and those of the Class, and Plaintiff’s claims 

are typical of the claims of the Class. Plaintiff’s undersigned counsel is competent and experienced 

in litigating class actions and other complex litigation matters, including WARN Act cases. 

47. There are questions of law and fact common to the proposed Class that predominate 

over any questions affecting only individual Class members, including, without limitation: whether 

Defendants violated the WARN Act by failing to provide appropriate and timely notice to Class 

members regarding a plant closing. 

48. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class in the following ways, 

without limitation: (a) Plaintiff is a member of the Class; (b) Plaintiff’s claims arise out of the same 

policies, practices, and course of conduct that form the basis of the claims of the Class; (c) 

Plaintiff’s claims are based on the same legal and remedial theories as those of the Class and 

involve similar factual circumstances; (d) there are no conflicts between the interests of Plaintiff 

and the Class; and (e) the injuries suffered by Plaintiff as a result of the plant closing are similar 

to the injuries suffered by the Class. 

49. Class certification is appropriate under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because questions 

of law and fact common to the Class predominate over any questions affecting only individual 

Class members. Class action treatment is superior to the alternatives for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of the controversy alleged herein. Such treatment will permit a large number of 
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similarly situated persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum simultaneously, 

efficiently, and without the duplication of effort and expense that numerous individual actions 

would entail. No difficulties are likely to be encountered in the management of this class action 

that would preclude its maintenance as a class action, and no superior alternative exists for the fair 

and efficient adjudication of this controversy. The Class is readily identifiable from Defendants’ 

own employment records. Prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class 

would create the risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual Class 

members that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants. 

50. A class action is superior to other available methods for adjudication of this 

controversy because joinder of all members is impractical. Further, the amounts at stake for many 

of the Class members, while substantial, are not great enough to enable them to maintain separate 

suits against Defendants. 

51. Without a class action, Defendants will retain the benefit of their wrongdoing, 

which will result in further damages to Plaintiff and the Class. Plaintiff envisions no difficulty in 

the management of this action as a class action. 

COUNT I 
Violation of the WARN Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 2101 et seq. 

(On behalf of Plaintiff and the Class) 
 

52. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Class, repeats and realleges the allegations of 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully restated herein. 

53. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5). 

54. The WARN Act provides that certain employers with more than 100 employees 

must provide 60 days’ advance written notice of plant closings and mass layoffs. 29 U.S. Code § 

2101(a); 20 C.F.R. § 639.3. 
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55. The Act provides three exceptions to the notice requirement: (a) unforeseeable 

business circumstances, (b) faltering companies, and (c) natural disasters. 20 C.F.R. § 639.9. 

56. In order to claim the benefit of one of the WARN Act’s three exceptions, “[t]he 

employer must, at the time notice actually is given, provide a brief statement of the reason for 

reducing the notice period, in addition to the other elements set out in § 639.7.” 20 CFR § 639.9.  

57. The notice given must be specific and in writing. 20 C.F.R. § 639.7(a). 

58. The WARN Act requires the notice provided to affected employees include the 

following specific factual information: 

(1) A statement as to whether the planned action is expected to be permanent 
or temporary and, if the entire plant is to be closed, a statement to that effect; 

(2) The expected date when the plant closing or mass layoff will commence 
and the expected date when the individual employee will be separated; 

(3) An indication whether or not bumping rights exist; 
(4) The name and telephone number of a company official to contact for further 

information. 
 

20 CFR § 639.7(d). 
 

59. At all relevant times, Defendants had more than 100 full-time employees within the 

United States. 

60. At all relevant times, Defendants employed more than 100 employees who, in the 

aggregate, worked at least 4,000 hours per week, exclusive of hours of overtime, within the United 

States. 

61. At all times relevant, Defendants were each an “employer” as that term is defined 

in 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(1) and 20 C.F.R. § 639.3(a). 

62. On or around June 27, 2025, Defendants effected a plant closing as defined by 29 

U.S.C. § 2101(a)(2).  

63. Defendants’ plant closing resulted in an employment loss of more than 50 
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employees on June 27, 2025, at a “single site of employment,” and as such, constituted a “plant 

closing” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(2), thus making all Class Members “affected 

employees” as a direct and proximate result of the failure to give notice as required under the 

WARN Act. 

64. Defendants’ Houston office was the “single site of employment” for Plaintiff and 

the Class Members as defined in 20 C.F.R. § 639.3(i), which reads in relevant part: 

(1)  A single site of employment can refer to either a single location or a group 
of contiguous locations. Groups of structures which form a campus or industrial 
park, or separate facilities across the street from one another, may be considered a 
single site of employment. 
 
(6) For workers whose primary duties require travel from point to point, who 
are outstationed, or whose primary duties involve work outside any of the 
employer's regular employment sites (e.g., railroad workers, bus drivers, 
salespersons), the single site of employment to which they are assigned as their 
home base, from which their work is the assigned, or to which they report will be 
the single site in which they are covered for WARN purposes.  
 
(8)  The term “single site of employment” may also apply to truly unusual 
organizational situations where the above criteria do not reasonably apply. The 
application of this definition with the intent to evade the purpose of the Act to 
provide notice is not acceptable. 
 
65. Plaintiff was a full-time employee of Defendants.  

66. Plaintiff was discharged without cause as part of the plant closing ordered by 

Defendants and is an “affected employee” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(5). 

67. At or about the time that Plaintiff was discharged or shortly thereafter, Defendants 

also discharged over two hundred (200) additional “affected employees” as part of their plant 

closing. 

68. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5), Plaintiff asserts the claims raised in this 

proceeding on behalf of the Class for each of them for their benefit. 

69. Each of the Class members are similarly situated to Plaintiff in respect to their rights 
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under the WARN Act. 

70. The plant closing resulted in “employment losses,” as that term is defined by 29 

U.S.C. § 2101(a)(6), at a single site of employment. Defendants failed to give written notice of the 

plant closing to the “affected employees” prior to the actual date of the layoff. 

71. The WARN Act required that Defendants give Plaintiff and the Class at least 60 

days prior written notice of termination of employment. 29 U.S.C. § 2102(a). 

72. Prior to the termination of employment, Plaintiff and the Class did not receive 

written notice from Defendants that complied with the requirements of the WARN Act. 

73. Defendants’ June 27, 2025, layoff was not an unforeseeable business circumstance; 

Defendants were not faltering companies; and the layoff was not caused by natural disasters as 

required to be excused by WARN Act notice provision. 20 C.F.R. § 639.9(a)-(c).  

74. Moreover, Defendants did not issue Plaintiff or the Class Members any WARN Act 

notice indicating that Defendants were claiming one of the Act’s three exceptions as a reason for 

the failure to provide the required sixty (60) day notice of the layoff, as is required to claim the 

protection of the exceptions. 29 U.S.C. § 2102(b)(3); 20 C.F.R. § 639.9; see also In re Yellow 

Corp., No. 23-11069 (CTG), 2024 WL 5181660, at *13 (Bankr. D. Del. Dec. 19, 2024) (holding 

employer’s formal WARN Act notices to union and non-union employees were “insufficient to 

invoke the statutory exceptions because the ‘brief statement’ did not contain enough facts 

adequately to justify the reduced notice.”).  

75. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the Class their respective wages, salary, 

commissions, bonuses, benefits, accrued holiday pay, and accrued vacation for 60 working days 

following the respective terminations of their employment. 

76. Defendants’ failure to provide Plaintiff and the Class with at least sixty (60) days 
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prior written notice of the termination of employment was a violation of federal law, the WARN 

Act. The WARN Act specifically provides that employers that violate the WARN Act are liable 

for “back pay” for each day of violation. 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(i)(A). 

77. Because of Defendants’ violation of the WARN Act, Plaintiff and the Class are 

entitled to payment for their wages, salary, commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay, and 

accrued vacation for “the period for the violation, up to a maximum of sixty (60) days.” 29 U.S.C. 

§ 2104(a)(1). 

78. As a result of Defendants’ violation of the WARN Act, Plaintiff and Class members 

have been damaged in amounts equal to the sum of:  

(a) their respective lost wages, salaries, commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay, 
accrued vacation pay, pension contributions, and 401(K) contributions for 60 
working days; 

(b) the health and medical insurance and other fringe benefits under the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) that they would have received or had 
the benefit of receiving, for a period of 60 working days after the date of their 
termination; 

(c) all medical expenses incurred during such period that would have been covered and 
paid under Defendants’ employee benefit plans had that coverage continued for that 
period; and 

(d) interest for the time value of the lost wages and benefits. 

29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(1). 
 

79. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 2104 (a)(6), employers such as Defendants who violate the 

WARN Act shall also be liable for court costs and attorneys’ fees incurred in recovering the 

Plaintiff’s and Class members’ damages. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the following relief on behalf of himself and 

the Class Members: 
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a. Damages in favor of Plaintiff Peter Sadler and each of the Class members, equal to 
the sum of: (i) unpaid wages, salary, commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay, 
accrued vacation pay and pension and 401(k) contributions for 60 working days; 
(ii) the benefit of health and medical insurance and other fringe benefits under 
ERISA for 60 working days; and (iii) any medical or other expenses incurred during 
the 60 working days since the respective terminations of their employment that 
would have been covered and paid under the Defendants’ employee benefit plans 
had that coverage continued for that period; and interest for the time value of the 
lost wages and benefits, all determined in accordance with the WARN Act, 29 
U.S.C. § 2104 (a)(1); 

b. Certification of the Class pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) and (b)(3), and the 
appointment of Plaintiff Peter Sadler as Class representative and the undersigned 
attorneys as Class Counsel; 

c. Interest as allowed by law on the amounts owed to the extent allowed by applicable 
law under the preceding paragraphs; 

d. Reasonable attorneys’ fees and the reimbursement of costs and disbursements 
incurred in prosecuting this action, as authorized by the WARN Act, 29 U.S.C. 
2104 (a)(6); and 

e. Such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial on all claims and issues for which Plaintiff is entitled 

to a jury. 

Dated: June 30, 2025 Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Russell Paul   
Russell Paul  
BERGER MONTAGUE PC 
800 N. West Street, Suite 200 
Wilmington, DE 19801 
Tel.: (302) 691-9545 
Fax: (215) 875-4620 
rpaul@bm.net 
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Shanon J. Carson* 
Camille Fundora Rodriguez* 
Michael J. Anderson* 
BERGER MONTAGUE PC 
1818 Market Street, Suite 3600 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 
(215) 875-3000 
scarson@bm.net 
crodriguez@bm.net 
manderson@bm.net 
 
Alexandra K. Piazza* 
BERGER MONTAGUE PC 
8241 La Mesa Blvd, Suite A 
La Mesa, CA 91942 
(215) 875-3000 
apiazza@bm.net 
 
Counsel for Plaintiff and the Proposed Class 
Members 
 
* Pro hac vice forthcoming. 

 
 
 
 

Case 1:25-cv-00802-UNA     Document 1     Filed 06/30/25     Page 16 of 16 PageID #: 16



Page 17

 

Exhibit A 

  

Case 1:25-cv-00802-UNA     Document 1-1     Filed 06/30/25     Page 1 of 3 PageID #: 17



Page 18

MARK R. WARNER 
VIRGINIA 

tlnitcd ~tatrs ~rnatr 
WASHINGTON, DC 2051 0-4606 

The Honorable General Randall Reed 
Commander 
U.S. Transportation Command 
508 Scott Drive 
Scott Air Force Base, IL 62225-5357 

Dear General Reed: 

February 26, 2025 

COMMITTEES: 

FINANCE 

BANKING, HOUSING, AND 
URBAN AFFAIRS 

BUDGET 

INTELLIGENCE 

RULES AND ADMINISTRATION 

I write to express my concern with U.S. Transportation Command's (USTRANSCOM) 
implementation of the Global Household Goods contract with vendor HomeSafe Alliance. My 
constituents and press reporting indicate that HomeSafe Alliance is struggling to support military 
moves in a timely and predictable manner, calling into question performance on the contract, and 
ultimately degrading the readiness of our nation' s servicemembers and their families. As the 
military community enters the permanent change of station (PCS) peak season, it is essential that 
our servicemembers and their families have the logistical support they need to meet the mission. 

The welfare of our military members and their families underwrites our national security and I 
remain committed to fulfilling our collective obligation to support their service and reduce 
barriers to them performing their vital duty to our nation. In 2014, I engaged 1 on behalf of 
servicemembers when a contractor failed to reliably deliver servicemember personal vehicles in 
a timely manner from overseas assignments. This delay cost military members hundreds of 
dollars in vehicle rental fees and untold aggravation with an unresponsive contractor, and I was 
pleased that USTRANSCOM implemented a plan to address contract performance. 

I am disappointed to once again find that intervention is necessary to ensure the military 
community has what they need to focus on their jobs and families. Public reporting that cites 
USTRANSCOM officials, indicates that more than 1,000 military families have already 
experienced missed household goods pickup or delivery dates, contractor communication 
challenges, or other issues associated with this contract. Your Director of the Defense Personal 
Property Management Office said that failures on a program this size, in the midst of 
transformation, are "to be expected."2 

1 https://www.warner.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/2014/9/sen-wamer-to-dod-find-servicemembers-missing-vehicles 
2 https://www.militarytimes.com/pay-benefits/military-benefits/2025/02/03/military-families-see-bumpy-start-to­
household-goods-moving-program/ 

http ://warner.senate.gov 
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I can assure you that the military families missing their beds, kitchen appliances, and comforts of 
home expect far more in terms of support. We cannot be complacent in the performance of this 
contract or in the treatment the military families moving this PCS season, particularly as your 
implementation schedule calls for domestic PCS moves to transition to this new contract this 
spring. To that end, I appreciate your action to issue a "show-cause" notice on this contract. 

Accordingly, I request that you or appropriately designated officials provide a briefing to my 
staff as to how USTRANSCOM will ensure HomeSafe Alliance improves contract performance. 
Among other concerns, I would ask that you provide answers to the following: 

• How many household goods (HHG) pickups and drop offs have been missed since 
the new Global Household Goods contract was phased in? What percentage of these 
missed pick up and drop offs are because of contractors failing to show up, or other 
capacity issues? 

• What recourse is available to servicemembers and their families when their HHG 
pickup or drop off is delayed? 

• Why was a show-cause letter issued to HomeSafe Alliance, and what was HomeSafe 
Alliance' s response to the letter? 

• What assurances has Home Safe Alliance provided in terms of their ability to build 
mover capacity? 

• What changes have you implemented to reduce the number of missed pickups and 
drop offs since April 2024? What are you doing to ensure Home Safe Alliance is 
prepared for peak PCS season? 

• What is the impact of these challenges on your stated time lines to transition all 
CONUS and OCONUS moves to this new program over the coming months? 

• What performance metrics will USTRANSCOM use in evaluating performance under 
the HomeSafe Alliance contract, and consideration of its continuation? 

• What, if any, impact to your staffing or budget has occurred as a result of changes 
directed or implemented as a result of intervention by the Department of Government 
Efficiency? 

I appreciate your attention and look forward to working closely with you on this matter. Thank 
you for your time and consideration. 

Sincerely, 

MARK R. WARNER 
United States Senator 
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Exhibit B 

  

Case 1:25-cv-00802-UNA     Document 1-2     Filed 06/30/25     Page 1 of 3 PageID #: 20



Page 21

SECRETARY OF DEFENSE 
1000 DEFENSE PENTAGON 

WASHINGTON , DC 20301 -1000 

MAY 2 0 2025 

MEMORANDUM FOR SENIOR PENTAGON LEADERSHIP 
COMMANDERS OF THE COMBAT ANT COMMANDS 
DEFENSE AGENCY AND DOD FIELD ACTIVITY DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: Immediate Modifications to the Defense Personal Property Program 

As Secretary, one of my greatest responsibilities is to support our Soldiers, Sailors, Airmen, 
Marines, Guardians, civilians, and their families who serve their country. Placing our people where 
most needed to defend the Nation is critical to the Department ' s success. Relocating our personnel 
is critical to the military mission, putting human resources and expertise where they are needed to 
defend the Nation. The timely moving of household goods is critical to successful permanent 
change of station (PCS) moves for our Service members and civilians. In keeping with my priority 
to restore trust in our military and due to recent deficiencies in the performance of the Global 
Household Goods Contract (GHC), I direct the Commander, U.S. Transportation Command 
(USTRANSCOM), to take the following actions immediately to support fully our military and 
civilian families during the 2025 PCS season and beyond: 

• Hold the GHC and Tender of Service (ToS) programs accountable for meeting their key 
performance indicators and provide weekly updates to the Office of the Under 
Secretary of Defense for Acquisition and Sustainment (USD(A&S)) and the Office of 
the USD for Personnel and Readiness (P&R). 

• Fully leverage both the GHC and legacy ToS program to ensure maximum coverage for 
moves during the 2025 peak season. 

• Offramp non-serviced GHC customer shipments into the ToS program based on 
capacity shortfalls. 

• Review and, if appropriate, implement Economic Price Adjustment provisions in the 
GHC contract. 

• Develop and implement ToS rates, as required, to ensure vendor capacity. 

• As I have determined that the current GHC rates fail to reflect market rates and are in 
excess of 130 percent of current GHC rates, implement adjustments to the government­
constructed costs for reimbursement of personally procured moves from May 15, 2025 
through September 30, 2025 , to reflect market rates at 130 percent of current GHC 
rates. 

Establish internal controls (hotline/operation center) within USTRANSCOM to maintain 
direct access with global transportation shipping offices to mitigate any GHC or ToS interruptions. 
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I also direct the USD(A&S) and the USD(P&R) to promptly form a PCS Task Force (TF) 
to ensure that the Department provides the highest quality moving services for our warriors, 
civilian employees, and their families. The PCS TF must act decisively to improve, expand, 
terminate, or transfer GHC or ToS responsibilities as needed. 

I take my responsibilities to our Service members, civilians, and their families seriously. 
Through these measures, we will ensure we remain the most lethal fighting force in the world by 
ensuring that our warriors and their families receive the best PCS move available. The Department 
owes them nothing less, and getting this right is part of restoring their trust in our military. 

2 
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